DETERMINING OPTIMAL SWAB TYPE AND ELUTION BUFFER TO OBTAIN WHOLE CELLS FOR FUTURE DECONVOLUTION OF COMPLEX CELL MIXTURES

Melissa Jollie

A Thesis

Submitted to the Graduate College of Bowling Green State University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

MASTER OF SCIENCE

May 2021

Committee:

Crytal Oechsle, Advisor

Travis Worst

Lewis Maddox

ABSTRACT

Crystal Oechsle, Advisor

An increase of DNA testing sensitivity has led to an elevated variety of sample testing, including complex DNA mixtures, making the interpretation of DNA profiling results more complex. Currently there is no proscribed method used in laboratories to separate complex DNA mixtures by their contributors, therefore a method is needed that could reduce complex mixtures into their component parts. In this study methods of obtaining whole, intact cells from desiccated forensic samples for later cytometric sorting and downstream DNA analysis were examined. This study observed the effects of three different elution buffers (AutoMACS[®], Phosphate Buffered Saline, and water) on recovery of whole, intact cells from standard cotton swabs, and then the effect of three different swab types (cotton, flocked, and dissolvable), of different composition, on recovery of whole, intact cells. This was accomplished by washing the swab containing the sample with an elution buffer that maintains the integrity of the cell membrane, resulting in a solution of intact cells. The results of this study demonstrated that the combination of AutoMACS® buffer and flocked swabs provided the highest yield of intact cells post elution. In the future, a solution of whole cells could then be grouped into categories by their cell surface proteins and sorted through cytometric sorting techniques. Once the mixtures have been separated into their component parts by the cell's surface proteins, then DNA analysis could proceed as normal, potentially resulting in single-source samples.

This thesis is dedicated to my grandfather, Delford Becke, who unfortunately passed during the time in which I was completing this thesis. He inspired the love of science and learning every day, to everyone he met.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to acknowledge and thank those individuals who have supported and encouraged me throughout the process of my thesis completion and my academic career as a whole. First, I would like to thank my thesis advisor Dr. Crystal Oechsle for her countless hours dedicated to helping me through my graduate degree. As a professor and advisor, her input and teaching is invaluable. I have learned many new skills and laboratory techniques under her guidance that will help me on my path of becoming a forensic scientist. Dr. Oechsle was always available at short notice with any problem encountered during this process. I would also like to thank my committee members, Dr. Travis Worst and Dr. Lewis Maddox for their help in developing my thesis proposal and writing of my final thesis. My family and friends have been my standing rock throughout my academic career, and I cannot thank them enough for always being there for me. Thank you to my parents for their endless advice, support (both financially and emotionally), and love. Without my parents and siblings, I would not be where I am today. I would also like to thank my friends and colleagues, Karin Jacobsen, and Natalie Wise. The friendship I have developed with these ladies has truly helped me through tough times in graduate school. My sisters in STEM made stressful times a little less daunting, as we have been going through our thesis work together. Lastly, I would like to thank Luna Innovations Incorporated for donating dissolvable swabs to this study.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
CHAPTER I: BACKGROUND	1
1.1 Statement of the Problem	1
1.2 The Importance of Cell-Surface Biomarkers	2
1.3 Forensically Relevant Sample Collection Substrates	3
1.4 Whole-Cell Elution Methods	5
1.5 Specific Aims	7
CHAPTER II: METHODS	8
2.1 Preliminary Studies	8
2.1.1 Sample Acquisition	8
2.1.2 Cell Counting	8
2.2 Study Sample Preparation	11
2.3 Processing of Positive Controls	12
2.4 Processing of Aim 1 Samples	13
2.5 Processing of Aim 2 Samples	14
CHAPTER III: RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	15
3.1 Positive Control Analysis	15
3.2 Specific Aim 1 - Buffers	17
3.3 Specific Aim 2 - Swabs	20

CHAPTER IV: CONCLUSION	23
LITERATURE CITED	25

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure		Page
1.1	Demonstration of the difference between cotton swab fibers and flocked swab fibers	4
2.1	Hausser Scientific Brightline TM hemocytometer and microscope image of the	
	hemocytometer's etched metallic grid for cell counting viewed at 40x total magnification	9
3.1	Total whole-cell counts eluted from liquid blood samples with each of the three buffers	17
3.2	Total whole-cell counts eluted from cotton swabs with each of the three buffers	19
3.3	Total whole-cell counts eluted from cotton, flocked, and dissolvable swabs with	
	AutoMACS® buffer	21
3.4	Total whole-cell counts eluted from cotton, flocked, and dissolvable swabs with	
	AutoMACS® buffer compared to liquid blood	22

LIST OF TABLES

Table		Page
2.1	Replicate counts of intact white blood cells in whole blood diluted 1:10 in 3% Acetic Acid	
	with Methylene Blue	11
3.1	Total and average counts for liquid blood positive controls eluted with AutoMACS®	
	buffer	16
3.2	Total and average counts for liquid blood positive controls eluted with PBS buffer	16
3.3	Total and average counts for liquid blood positive controls eluted with water	16
3.4	Total whole-cell counts, overall averages, standard deviations, and standard error of the	
	mean for cotton swabs eluted using one of the three test buffers	18
3.5	Total whole-cell counts, overall averages, standard deviations, and standard error of the	
	mean for cotton, flocked, and dissolvable swabs eluted with AutoMACS® buffer	20

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

RFLP	Restriction Fragment Length Polymorphism	
PCR	Polymerase Chain Reaction	
CE	Capillary Electrophoresis	
STR	Short Tandem Repeat	
PGS	Probabilistic Genotyping Software	
FACS	Fluorescence Activated Cell Sorting	
PBS	Phosphate Buffered Saline	
BSA	Bovine Serum Albumin	
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic Acid	
MACS	Magnetic Activated Cell Sorting	
HSD	Honest Significance Difference	
SEM	Standard Error of the Mean	

CHAPTER I: BACKGROUND

1.1 Statement of the Problem

In the beginning of forensic DNA profiling and analysis, the Restriction Fragment Length Polymorphism (RFLP) technique required large quantities of high-quality DNA in order to obtain a profile. With current technologies, such as the Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR) and capillary electrophoresis (CE), DNA profiling is much more sensitive and now targets the detection of Short Tandem Repeats (STRs)¹. Because PCR is used to make millions of copies of the DNA regions of interest, PCR technology has made it possible to obtain an autosomal DNA profile from a very small starting amount of biological material. This increase in sensitivity has led to laboratories testing a variety of sample types where processing may not have been attempted in the past, making complex DNA mixtures more prevalent and, in turn, making the interpretation of DNA profiling results more complex. A mixture of DNA is difficult to analyze because each person has two alleles at a given locus, which may be the same (homozygous) or different (heterozygous), and when DNA is mixed there is no definitive way to ascertain zygosity or if alleles are overlapping, so there is not a conclusive way to determine the exact number of contributors there are in the sample. One current method used to analyze complex mixtures of DNA is Probabilistic Genotyping Software (PGS), a computer program that uses statistical and biological models to ascertain genotypes and calculate probabilities². PGS uses mathematics to account for the rarity of alleles used for analysis in the human population, and from that produces a statistic to determine the likelihood that a specific DNA profile is included in a DNA mixture. Although PGS is an incredibly useful tool in analyzing DNA mixtures, the results are not always informative with very complex mixtures, those being from more than three contributors to the mixed DNA profile. Therefore, a method is needed that could help reduce complex mixtures into their component parts. One way of doing this would be to separate the

1

cells from the individual contributors *prior* to the DNA analysis process. Fluorescence Activated Cell Sorting (FACS) is a flow cytometric method that could be used to do this; it is routinely used to identify cells, measure characteristics of cells, and sort cells ³. However, flow cytometry has typically been used for analysis of live cells, in applications including immunophenotyping, cell cycle analysis, and cell sorting ⁴. Few studies exist to demonstrate the use of flow cytometry on dried or aged cells, as are commonly encountered with forensic samples. In this project, I examined methods of obtaining whole, intact cells from desiccated forensic samples for later cytometric sorting and downstream DNA analysis.

1.2 The Importance of Cell-Surface Biomarkers

DNA is located inside the nucleus of a cell, protected by a cell membrane. The primary function of extraction buffers that are used in traditional DNA analysis is to lyse the cell membrane, making the cellular DNA available for further analysis ⁵. However, at the point of membrane lysis, all the DNA from all of the cells in the sample get mixed together in the same solution. Because DNA is biochemically the same molecule from person to person, once it has been released into solution, the ability to separate it by contributor is lost. Even though forensic DNA analysis focuses on the small portion of DNA that is unique to each individual, in mixtures of DNA, it becomes increasingly more difficult to determine which alleles in the DNA mixture belong to which contributor. Alternatively, separating each contributor's cells prior to DNA extraction, or cell membrane lysis, would avoid creating complex DNA mixtures all together. One way to do this would be to elute cells from the sample substrate using a mild buffer solution in order to maintain the integrity of the cell membrane, ideally resulting in a solution of intact cells. A solution of whole cells could then be sorted into groups or populations cytometrically.

Once all the cells have been separated by their respective contributor, DNA extraction could proceed as normal, potentially resulting in single-source samples for each contributor.

The cell must be intact for flow cytometry to separate the cells because FACS works by "tagging" the cell surface proteins on the membrane ⁶. Cell sorting of biological material has been previously attempted using antibodies for several forensically relevant biomarkers. Biomarkers are cellular, biochemical, or molecular alterations that are observable or measurable inside or on the surface of cells or free-floating in other biological fluids ⁷. Biomarkers that could be relevant in forensic use include Sperm Head Specific Antigen (SHA) for sperm cells ³, CD45 ³ for lymphocytes, which are a subset of white blood cells, and cytokeratin ³ for epithelial cells. Additionally, A/B/O blood group and secretor status, which have historically been used quite extensively in forensic biology, may be useful for separating mixtures of the same body fluid type by donor⁸. A/B/O blood group is determined by antigens that are attached to oligosaccharide chains protruding from the surface of red blood cells (RBC). Some people are "secretors," meaning that they express a form of A/B/O blood group antigens in bodily fluids other than blood ⁹. These markers may be helpful in separating body fluids by contributor because they are known to be present on the surface of many forensically relevant cell types, such as white blood cells, sperm, and epithelial cells 3 .

1.3 Forensically Relevant Sample Collection Substrates:

In order for cell sorting and eventual DNA analysis to be successful, it is critical to obtain the adequate recovery of whole cells from the collection substrate. Forensic biological samples are predominantly collected and stored on swabs, which is most commonly a standard cotton swab¹⁰. Cotton swabs are built by winding the fibers onto the shaft of the stick. This orientation of the cotton fibers has been shown to trap a significant portion of the cellular material within the swab¹¹. Additionally, research has also determined that different types of swabs may hold and release sample material differently ¹². For instance, another fairly common swab in the forensic community, which is often compared to cotton swabs, is the flocked swab. Flocked swabs are constructed by attaching the nylon fibers perpendicularly onto the surface through an electrostatic mechanism. This results in the fibers being more open, and these swabs, therefore, reportedly release more sample from the substrate than do the cotton swabs¹².



Figure 1.1: Demonstration of the difference between cotton swab fibers (A) and flocked swab fibers (B) ¹³.

An emerging type of forensic-use swab is the dissolvable swab. Theoretically, one should be able to recover the greatest amount of sample from a dissolvable swab, as the substrate fibers would no longer exist to retain any sample. Dissolvable swabs are insoluble in common liquids such as water and ethanol but are soluble in some DNA extraction buffers ¹⁴. Luna is a company that makes dissolvable swabs from cellulose acetate, a durable fiber that is soluble in solutions of high chaotropic salt solutions ¹⁴. Chaotropic agents work by disrupting the hydrogen bonds of water molecules and reduce the stability of the subject protein by weakening the hydrophobicity ¹⁵. Chaotropic agents, in high concentrations, completely denature the natural state of proteins. These agents are typically found in solid-phase extraction buffers to lyse cells and obtain maximum DNA recovery ¹⁴. Unfortunately, use of chaotropic salts would pose a problem for obtaining whole-cell eluents from forensic-type samples. However, Luna dissolvable swabs may also be adequate for obtaining high cellular yields without actually dissolving the cellulose acetate fibers ¹⁶. The Luna swabs are constructed with cellulose fibers that are 0.2 micrometers in diameter, whereas a standard cotton swab contains fibers that are 20 micrometers in diameter ¹⁶. The smaller diameter of the fibers used in the dissolvable swabs may provide a greater surface area for sample collection and may also prevent the specimen from getting tangled within the swab fibers upon later elution ¹⁶.

1.4 Whole-Cell Elution Methods:

Biological material analysis for forensic application is usually performed on dried and/or aged samples, that later get rehydrated during the elution process. A variety of buffers may be used to rehydrate and release a desiccated sample from its substrate. Many buffers that are used for DNA extraction contain "harsh" chemicals such as detergents, enzymes, strong reducing agents, and/or chaotropic salts that lyse the outer membrane of the cell and denature proteins. As the goal in this research will be to obtain whole-cell eluents for downstream separation, finding a buffer and elution method that will not lyse the cell is of paramount importance.

Water has been shown to be effective at releasing dried biological material from substrates ¹⁸. Phosphate Buffered Saline (PBS) is a water and salt solution containing disodium hydrogen phosphate and sodium chloride ¹⁷. The phosphate is used to maintain constant pH that mimics the human body. Although water is an inexpensive and prevalent solute, PBS may be preferred over water because it should prevent cells from rupturing or drying out due to osmosis, i.e. the passive movement of water into and out of a cell membrane ¹⁷. However, a search of the

scientific literature revealed no studies that demonstrate the effectiveness of water and/or PBS as elution buffers that yield intact cells from dried biological sample.

AutoMACS® running buffer contains bovine serum albumin (BSA), Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA), and 0.009% azide ¹⁹. The AutoMACS® buffer is manufactured for use in Magnetic Activated Cell Sorting (MACS), a method used to separate cells based on their surface antigens. This buffer has been used for eluting whole-cells from desiccated swabs in the DEPArray TM method ³, which is a microchip-based digital sorter used for detection and recovery of pure homologous cell pools²⁰. BSA is a protein isolated from cows that is commonly used for its stability and lack of obstruction to biological reactions ²¹. BSA is a single polypeptide chain consisting of over 500 amino acids and no carbohydrates and is commonly used in molecular biology reactions to stabilize proteins and enzymatic reactions²². The second component to the AutoMACS[®] buffer is Ethylenediaminetetraacetic Acid (EDTA), which is a chelating agent that works to bind to free magnesium (Mg^{2+}). The purpose of EDTA is to prevent nucleases that may cleave DNA from binding to the magnesium, which they use as a cofactor for activation ²³. By adding EDTA to the buffer solution, it is protecting the DNA inside the nucleus from the nucleases. The final component of the AutoMACS® buffer is 0.009% azide. Azides are a class of chemical compounds that contain any three nitrogen atoms as a group, and most of these compounds are unstable and sensitive to shock. Azide is used in the AutoMACS® buffer as a preservative ²⁴.

The purpose of this study was to determine the effects of the substrate collection material and elution buffer on the ability to obtain whole, intact cells from desiccated, dried biological samples.

<u>Aim 1:</u> Determine an optimal elution method to recover whole cells from desiccated biological samples on a standard cotton swab.

<u>Aim 2:</u> Determine the optimal substrate from three forensically relevant swab types, for elution and recovery of whole cells from desiccated biological samples.

CHAPTER II: METHODS

2.1 Preliminary Studies

2.1.1 Sample Acquisition

Single source samples of human blood were obtained from Innovative Research (Novi, Michigan). Human blood was used for these studies because leucocytes, or white blood cells, are a typically encountered sample type in forensic DNA analysis, relatively abundant and easy to acquire, and fairly robust, but also more fragile and susceptible to cell lysis than sperm. Human blood is recognized as a biohazardous material because of the potential for the presence of blood-borne pathogens, and for this reason, only pre-screened blood was purchased and universal precautions for using human blood were practiced, such as wearing gloves and masks when handling the specimen. Even though human biological material was used, this research did not involve human subjects nor require Institutional Review Board (IRB) approval, as researchers were not involved in the sample collection, did not have access to the identifying information of the donors, or develop personally identifying or health-related data.

2.1.2 Cell Counting

The initial leucocyte concentration of the blood was determined microscopically using a Brightline TM hemocytometer (Hauser Scientific, Horsham, Pennsylvania) which is a square, glass microscope slide with an etched metallic grid (**Figure 2A**) that is divided into sections for microscopic cell counting (**Figure 2B**). A 1:10 dilution of neat, human blood was prepared using 3% Acetic Acid with Methylene Blue (STEMCELL TM Technologies, Cambridge, Massachusetts). Methylene Blue is a cationic stain, or positively charged blue dye, that is used for counting nucleated mammalian cells because it binds to negatively charged portions of the cell, such as DNA located in the cell's nucleus. This formulation with 3% acetic acid is used to lyse erythrocytes, red blood cell, membranes so that only the leukocytes remain, and the nuclei will appear lightly stained and can be easily counted under the microscope ²⁵. The diluted blood solution was pipette mixed and added to each of the two chambers of the hemocytometer in 10 μ L aliquots. The area of the hemocytometer's central square, which also appears as a 5x5 grid (**Figure 2B**), was observed with the aid of an Olympus BH-2 microscope (Olympus, Shinjuku, Tokyo, Japan) at 40X total magnification, and all white blood cells were counted. The central hemocytometer square has dimensions of 1.0 mm, which means the total volume of sample that is being examined at any given time is 1 x 10⁻⁴ mL or 0.1 mm³ or 10⁻⁴ cm³.



Figure 2.1: A) Hausser Scientific Brightline TM hemocytometer, B) microscope image of the hemocytometer's etched metallic grid for cell counting viewed at 40X total magnification

Since 1 cm³ is equivalent to 1 mL, the sample's cellular concentration (cells/mL) can be

calculated from this information and the count of the cells observed, using Equation 1.

<u>Eq. 1</u>: Cells per mL = Cell Count x 10^4 x dilution factor

To arrive at the total number of cells in the blood sample, one would simply multiple the

concentration of cells obtained from Equation 1 by the sample's original volume, in this case 10

mL. As the optimal starting concentration of cells or blood volume to be spotted on the swabs for later elutions was unknown, aliquots of 25 μ L (containing ~110,000 cells), 50 μ L (containing ~220,000 cells), 75 μ L (containing ~330,000 cells), and 100 μ L (containing ~440,000 cells) of neat blood were spotted onto cotton swabs (SKU#:806-WC, Puritan, Guilford, Maine) and allowed to dry for approximately 24 hours. These dried blood samples on the cotton swabs were then used as "test swabs" to determine which starting sample volume was optimal for recovery and observation post-elution.

When the test swabs were eluted with AutoMACS® buffer (Miltenyl Biotec, Waltham, Massachusetts), few to no cells were observed from 25 μ L (containing ~110,000 cells) and 50 μ L (containing ~220,000 cells) of neat blood. Cell counts obtained from the 75 μ L (containing ~330,000 cells) neat blood swabs were slightly higher on average, than the swabs containing 100 μ L (containing ~440,000 cells) of neat blood. The 100 μ L neat blood swabs appeared to retain blood following the elution and centrifugation process. This data suggested that spotting approximately 75 μ L of neat blood, or approximately 330,000 cells, on swabs would be optimal.

In these preliminary studies, both Methylene Blue (STEMCELL TM Technologies, British Columbia, Canada) and Trypan Blue (BioWhittaker®, Walkersville, Maryland) dyes were used to provide contrast during the microscopic cell counting. Trypan Blue is a membraneimpermeable dye that binds with intracellular proteins and DNA, meaning that it can aid in the identification of nucleated cells, only once the membrane is already permeabilized, either by chemical agents or during cell death ²⁶. Trypan Blue is often used as a live/dead stain, based on the principle that live cells have intact membranes that can exclude the dye from the cell, but dead cells do not. Dead cells, therefore, appear blue when examined microscopically. In comparing both Methylene Blue and Trypan Blue in these preliminary studies, Methylene Blue was better to visualize cells from fresh/liquid blood samples, whereas Trypan Blue was better for the visualization of cells that were previously dried and eluted from swabs.

2.2 Study Sample Preparation

For preparation of samples to be used in both Aim 1 and Aim 2, a fresh (~1-2 days post draw) vial of single donor, human whole blood containing Anticoagulant Citrate Dextrose (ACD) was acquired from Innovative Research (Novi, Michigan). The cell counting procedure described above was followed. A 1:10 dilution of the blood sample was counted four times (**Table 1**). Using **Equation 1**, it was determined that there were approximately 4.1×10^6 white blood cells per mL. From the preliminary studies, it was determined that ~330,000 cells in the 75 μ L volume was optimal for spotting on the swabs. Therefore, it was calculated that approximately 328,000 cells would in in 80 μ L of neat blood, and this is the volume of blood spotted onto swabs used for both the Aim 1 and Aim 2 studies.

Table 2.1: Replicate counts of intact white blood cells in whole blood diluted 1:10 in 3% Acetic Acid with Methylene Blue. This average cell count was used to

Replicate	Whole Cell Count
1	54
2	38
3	33
4	39
Average	41

A power analysis was performed for a balanced one-way ANOVA using R statistical software (r-project.org, version 4.0.3), to determine the minimum number of samples needed per test group in this study. With a significance factor (α) of 0.05, a power (1- β) of 0.8, a large effect size of 0.8, and a total of 6 groups, a minimum of 4.36 samples would be needed for each group in Aim 1. For aim 2, with the same analysis parameters, but with a total of four groups instead of

six, the power analysis showed that a minimum of 5.34 samples per group was needed. To be conservative, in both aims, it was determined that analysis of eight samples for each group would be conducted. To prepare all the samples that would be needed to complete both Aim 1 and Aim 2, 80 µL of neat blood (containing ~328,000 cells) was spotted onto 32 cotton swabs (Puritan), 8 FLOQswabs® (Copan Diagnostics, Inc., Murrieta, California), and 8 dissolvable swabs (Luna Innovations Incorporated, Roanoke, Virginia). At the same time, positive controls were also prepared by adding 80 µL of neat liquid blood directly to 24 Sorenson TM Dolphin microcentrifuge tubes (2 mL) (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, Missouri), without the addition of a swab. All of the swabs were allowed to air-dry at room temperature for approximately 24 hours before being packaged and stored at approximately 4°C, and the positive control samples were stored at approximately 4°C until processing.

2.3 Processing of Positive Controls

Since the positive controls were liquid blood, and even with the ACD preservative whole cells are known to degrade quickly in liquid blood, the positive controls were processed first. The same elution procedure was followed for these positive control samples as was used for the swab samples, the only difference being the absence of the swab. There were a total of 24 positive controls prepared, eight for each of the three respective buffers being tested: AutoMACS® (Miltenyl Biotec), PBS buffer (Sigma-Aldrich, Milwaukee, Wisconsin), and UltraPure TM distilled water (Invitrogen, Grand Island, New York). To begin, 1 mL of the respective buffer was added to each positive control tube. The tubes were allowed to incubate on a ThermoMixer F1.5 (Eppendorf AG, Germany) with constant agitation at a low speed (~500 rpm) for one hour at room temperature. Following agitation, samples were centrifuged at 200 xg for 10 minutes. The supernatant was then removed and discarded so that only the cell pellet and

approximately 50 μ L remained in the nose of each tube. To wash the cell pellet, 500 μ L of TE⁻⁴ buffer (TEKnova, Mansfield, Massachusetts) was added to each tube, then samples were again centrifuged at 200 xg for 10 minutes. Once again, the supernatant was removed and discarded, this time leaving only the cell pellet and as little liquid as possible in the nose of the tube. The cell pellet was then reconstituted to a total volume of 50 μ L using Trypan Blue. The solution was mixed and added to the hemocytometer chambers in 10 μ L aliquots. Each sample was counted five times, until the entire 50 μ L was counted.

Throughout this study, a negative control was also processed, which consisted of cleaning the hemocytometer grid with alcohol in between samples. This cleaned hemocytometer grid as observed under the microscope to ensure the grid was clean and no cells were being left behind.

2.4 Processing of Aim 1 Samples

The first aim of the project was to compare the efficacy of the three different buffers – PBS, water, and AutoMACS®. Cotton swabs were used for this aim because cotton swabs are most commonly used in a forensic context. On eight separate days, three cotton swabs, that were previously spotted with 80 μL of human blood (containing ~328,000 cells), were eluted with each of the three buffers, one buffer per swab. The swab samples were processed in a similar manner as the positive controls. Briefly, the heads of the swabs were removed and placed in separate 2 mL Sorenson TM dolphin-nosed microcentrifuge tubes; the respective test buffer was added to each tube; samples were agitated at room temperature. Following which, the swab heads were transferred to DNA IQ TM Spin Baskets (Promega Corporation, Madison, Wisconsin), which were returned to their respective dolphin-nosed tubes and centrifuged for 15 minutes at 200 xg. The increase in the centrifugation time from the positive control was to ensure sufficient release of cellular material and drying of the swab. After the initial centrifugation

period, the spin baskets with swabs and all but ~50 μ L of supernatant were removed and discarded. The cell pellets were washed in the manner described above, and then the cell pellet was reconstituted to a total volume of 50 μ L with Trypan Blue. The entire volume of each sample was counted in 10 μ L increments, for a total of five replicate counts per sample.

2.5 Processing of Aim 2 Samples

The second aim of the project was to compare the effect of swab composition on the recovery of whole cells. The swabs compared were Puritan TM 6" standard cotton swab with wooden stick, Copan FLOQswab®, and Luna dissolvable swabs. The dissolvable swabs were kindly donated by Luna Innovations Incorporated for the purposes of this research. Eight of each swab type, for a total of twenty-four samples, were previously prepared by spotting each with 80 μ L of neat human blood (containing ~328,000 cells), allowed to dry overnight, and then stored at ~4°C until processing. As Aim 1 demonstrated that the AutoMACS® buffer was most successful for obtaining whole cells from standard cotton swabs, this buffer was used in aim 2 for processing all of the Aim 2 samples.

On eight separate days, one of each of the three swab types was eluted with the AutoMACS® buffer following the same procedure described above for the Aim 1 samples.

CAHPTER III: RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

3.1 Positive Control Analysis

For this study, the quantitative data collected were numerical counts of intact leucocytes which were eluted from substrates of various composition with various liquid buffers. Positive control data was collected from liquid blood without the presence of a swab substrate, using only the three liquid buffers tested in Aim 1. The positive control data was compared with buffer data collected from Aim 1 and swab data collected from Aim 2 in order to determine what affect, if any, elution buffer and substrate composition had on whole-cell recovery. From the methods section, each of the eluted samples was resuspended in a total volume of 50 μ L, which was counted five times, in 10 μ L aliquots. The total cell count is the summation of those five replicate counts for each sample, and the average count is the total count divided by five. All numerical averages were rounded down to the nearest whole number since what was being measured, was whole, intact cells.

Positive control data was collected prior to testing swabs in Aim 1 and 2 because the controls were samples of neat, liquid blood, without a preservative. **Table 3.1** lists the total cell counts and average cell counts for each of the eight positive control samples eluted with AutoMACS® buffer. Similarly, **Table 3.2** lists the total and average counts for each of the eight positive control samples eluted with PBS, and **Table 3.3** lists the total and average counts for each of the positive control samples eluted with water.

	Total Cell	Average Cell Count
	Count	
AutoMACS_1	479	96
AutoMACS_2	604	121
AutoMACS_3	267	53
AutoMACS_4	286	27
AutoMACS_5	1468	294
AutoMACS_6	418	84
AutoMACS_7	317	63
AutoMACS 8	394	79

<u>**Table 3.1:**</u> Total and average counts for liquid blood positive controls eluted with AutoMACS® buffer.

<u>**Table 3.2:**</u> Total and average cell counts for liquid blood positive controls eluted with PBS buffer.

	Total Cell Count	Average Cell Count
PBS_1	187	37
PBS_2	182	36
PBS_3	177	35
PBS_4	181	36
PBS_5	251	50
PBS_6	194	39
PBS_7	204	41
PBS_8	97	19

<u>**Table 3.3:**</u> Total and average counts for liquid blood positive controls eluted with Water.

	Total Cell Count	Average Cell Count
Water_1	0	0
Water_2	0	0
Water_3	0	0
Water_4	5	1
Water_5	1	0
Water_6	3	1
Water_7	26	5
Water_8	0	0

So as to not adversely affect sample variances, the total counts rather than the average counts were used for statistical analysis. A Grubb's test for outliers was performed on the positive control data, which revealed that the samples AutoMACS_5, PBS_5, PBS_8, and Water_7 were outliers within their respective groups. A one-way ANOVA, significance set to

0.05, was performed on the positive control dataset to determine if there was a significant difference between the groups eluted using the three different buffers. The p-value for the ANOVA was 0.000595, meaning that there was a statistically significant difference between the buffers used to elute the positive controls. Following a post-hoc analysis with a Tukey's Honest Significant Difference (HSD) test, it was determined that each of the buffers were significantly different in the total number of intact cells that they eluted from the positive liquid blood controls, with AutoMACS® being the best and water being the worst (**Figure 3.1**).



Figure 3.1: Total whole cell counts eluted from liquid blood samples with each of the three buffers. Results displayed represent the average of the eight trials +/- the Standard Error of the Mean (SEM). Letter designations represent Tukey's HSD comparisons: the same letter designation means results are not statistically different; when letter designations differ between groups, the p-value is less than 0.05.

<u>3.2 Specific Aim 1 – Buffers</u>

The data collected for the completion of Aim 1 was the counts of whole cells eluted from cotton swabs with each of the three test buffers (AutoMACS®, PBS, and water). From the methods section, each of the eluted samples was resuspended in a total volume of 50 μ L, which was counted five times, in 10 μ L aliquots. The total cell count is the summation of those five replicate counts for each sample. **Table 3.4** displays the data collected for the total whole cell

counts for each buffer type, as well as the average, standard deviation, and standard error of the mean (SEM).

	AutoMACS®	PBS	Water
Replicate 1	88	61	26
Replicate 2	58	21	19
Replicate 3	22	17	13
Replicate 4	56	41	21
Replicate 5	100	45	26
Replicate 6	122	32	43
Replicate 7	125	36	41
Replicate 8	68	54	23
Average	79.875	38.375	26.500
Standard Deviation	35.498	15.175	10.447
SEM	12.551	5.365	3.694

<u>**Table 3.4**</u> Total whole cell counts, overall averages, standard deviations, and standard error of the mean for cotton swabs eluted using one of the three test buffers.

No outliers were observed in the elution buffer data using a Grubb's test on the total cell counts. A one-way ANOVA demonstrated that there was significant difference between the buffer elution groups (p = 0.00037). A Tukey's HSD demonstrated that the number of intact cells eluted from standard cotton swabs using PBS and water were not statistically different from each other, while significantly more intact cells were recovered using the AutoMACS® buffer (**Figure 3.2**). Because of this, the AutoMACS® buffer was used to complete Aim 2, in which the composition of different swabs were compared.



Figure 3.2: Total whole cell counts eluted from cotton swabs with each of the three buffers. Results displayed represent the average of the eight trials +/- the SEM. Letter designations represent Tukey's HSD comparisons: the same letter designation means results are not statistically different, when letter designations differ between groups, the p-value is less than 0.05.

In comparing the buffer data from the liquid blood positive controls and the cotton swabs, an interesting feature is present. With the positive controls, none to few cells were observed for each sample when eluted with water. However, after the introduction of a Puritan TM 6" standard cotton swab and allowing the blood to dry, a higher quantity of cells (26.5 cells on average) were observed after elution with water. A possible explanation for this is cytolysis, or the cells rupturing due to an excess of water present. Osmosis is the passive movement of water, into and out of the cell, across the cell membrane. When a cell has too much water present inside the cell membrane, it can become hypotonic, and cause the cell membrane to burst. The cells in the liquid blood likely exist in an isotonic state, meaning that there is an equal concentration of water inside and outside the cell. When water was added to the liquid blood from the elution buffer, the cells likely became hypotonic, meaning there was an influx of water through the cell membrane. The cotton swab samples eluted with water were dried, meaning the cells desiccated, becoming

hypertonic. Consequently, when water was added as an elution buffer to the dried sample, the cells returned to their isotonic state and did not suffer rupturing.

<u>3.3 Specific Aim 2 – Swabs</u>

The data collected for the completion of Aim 2 was the counts of whole cells eluted from eight Puritan TM 6" standard cotton swabs, eight Copan FLOQswab®, and eight Luna dissolvable swabs with AutoMACS® buffer. From the methods sections, each of the eluted samples was resuspended in a total volume of 50 μ L, which was counted five times in 10 μ L aliquots. The total cell count is the summation of those five replicate counts for each sample. **Table 3.5** displays the data for the total whole cell counts for each swab type, as well as the average, standard deviation, and standard error of the mean.

	Cotton Swab	Flocked Swab	Dissolvable Swab
Replicate 1	59	108	11
Replicate 2	28	133	5
Replicate 3	35	78	16
Replicate 4	70	139	12
Replicate 5	133	191	8
Replicate 6	88	198	9
Replicate 7	113	160	12
Replicate 8	58	296	18
Average	73.000	162.875	11.375
Standard Deviation	36.497	67.011	4.207
SEM	12.903	23.692	1.487

<u>**Table 3.5:**</u> Total whole-cell counts, overall averages, standard deviations, and standard error of the mean for cotton, flocked, and dissolvable swabs eluted using AutoMACS® buffer.

A Grubb's test for outliers revealed one potential outlier in the dataset, the 296 summation from the eighth flocked swab replicate. A one-way ANOVA demonstrated that there was significant difference between the swab groups ($p=0.3933 \times 10^{-6}$). The Tukey HSD test demonstrated that all groups were statistically different from each other, with the most intact

cells being recovered from flocked swabs, followed by cotton swabs, then dissolvable swabs (Figure 3.3).



Figure 3.3: Total whole-cell counts eluted from cotton, flocked, and dissolvable swabs with AutoMACS® buffer. Results displayed represent the average of the eight trials +/- the SEM. Letter designations represent Tukey's HSD comparisons: the same letter designation means results are not statistically different, when letter designations differ between groups, the p-value is less than 0.05.

One notable feature from the Aim 2 data is that the dissolvable swabs yielded the lowest amount of whole intact cells post elution. From the unique features of the dissolvable swabs, it was originally believed that they would preform the best. However, without the intention of actually dissolving them, it is possible that their full potential was not observed in this study. When spotting the liquid blood onto the dissolvable swabs, the fibers of the swab did not absorb the blood as easily as the cotton or flocked swabs did. Rather, on the dissolvable swabs, the liquid blood remained in droplets on the surface of the swabs. This caused the blood to flake during the drying process. Because the blood was flaking and not being held within the fibers of the dissolvable swabs, it is not certain that the full ~328,000 cells spotted on the swabs were still present at the start of elution. Additionally, when the elution data from the various swab types was compared to the positive control data for the AutoMACS® buffer, it demonstrates that the introduction of a swab, regardless of the type, causes a decrease in cell recovery post elution (**Figure 3.4**). This phenomenon could be caused by either the drying and rehydrating of the blood cells or the introduction of a swab resulting in cells are becoming trapped within the fibers of the substrate ¹². Additionally, not only could the cells be being retained within the swab fibers, but it is also possible that the swab fibers were too abrasive on the cells and causes shearing or rupturing. Since only whole, intact cells were being observed, any cells that were potentially damaged from the swab fibers would not have been observed.



Figure 3.4: Total whole-cell counts eluted from cotton, flocked, and dissolvable swabs with AutoMACS® buffer compared to liquid blood. Results displayed represent the average of the eight trials +/- the SEM

CHAPTER IV: CONCLUSION

The purpose of these studies was to determine an optimal method of obtaining whole, intact cells from swabs containing biological material. The idea being that once whole cells are obtained, they could then be separated by cell type or contributor prior to downstream DNA analysis to alleviate interpretation issues in complex mixture analysis. In furtherance of this goal, three elution buffers (AutoMACS®, PBS, and water) were compared, as well as three swab substrates (cotton, flocked, and dissolvable).

Through literature research, AutoMACS® buffer seemed to be a reasonable option to maintain the integrity of the cells' membranes, keeping them intact. It was also apparent through a search of the literature that the material and composition of the swab substrate would have a major impact on quantity and quality of cell recovery. The dissolvable swabs seemed as if they would be a good option to avoid cells being trapped within the fibers of the substrate, because theoretically the swab would no longer exist after elution. However, due to the nature of how the swabs dissolve and that complicating the recovery of intact cells, it was decided to not actually dissolve these swabs, which in turn meant that they did not perform as well as initially hoped. Regardless, the outcome of these studies demonstrate that the combination of AutoMACS® buffer and flocked swabs was the best for recovery of whole cells post elution. The AutoMACS® buffer outperformed both Phosphate Buffered Saline (PBS) and water, while FLOQswab® outperformed both standard cotton swabs and dissolvable swabs. Due to the unique chemical composition of AutoMACS®, and the orientation of swab fibers on the FLOQswabs®, the integrity of the cells' membranes were preserved and whole, intact cells were observed post elution.

In the future, this information could be used for cell sorting purposes. Once whole cells are obtained, the proteins and cell surface characteristics of the cell membranes could be utilized. Flow cytometry is a cell sorting technique that could be used to sort cells in a mixture by individual contributor. Once the cells of a complex mixture have been separated into component parts, DNA extraction could proceed as normal. Future avenues for research in this area include attempting elution of alternate cell types and actually implementing the cell sorting method. These studies were performed on blood samples because nucleated white blood cells are relatively abundant in whole blood, which is easily obtained and worked with, and the cells are somewhat robust compared to skin epithelial cells. Other cells types, such as sperm or epithelial cells, have features that could behave differently with the elution buffer or substrate type. Sperm cells have a long tail that results in a higher potential to become trapped within substrate fibers, and epithelial cells are more fragile and may be more susceptible to cell lysis. Additionally, the future goal is for this data collected from this study to be utilized in separating complex cell mixtures, but this study only focused on a single cell type from a single human donor.

This study could also be expanded to be more forensically relevant by swabbing already dried biological materials from surfaces with pre-moistened swabs. This study focused on the quality of the swabs and their retention of cells. However, in forensic context, it is typical to swab surfaces to pick up already dried biological material, like blood spatter at a crime scene. Future studies could test how swabbing already dried material would alter the results, rather than allowing the material to dry after being deposited on the swabs.

The separation of complex cell mixtures is relatively new area of research and the information discovered from these studies will help future studies, by acting as preliminary knowledge.

LITERATURE CITED

- Butler, John M. "The future of forensic DNA analysis." *Philosophical transactions of the Royal* Society of London. Series B, Biological sciences vol. 370,1674 (2015): 20140252. doi:10.1098/rstb.2014.0252
- National Institute of Standards and Technology, "DNA Mixtures: A Forensic Science Explainer," April 3, 2019, nist.gov: https://www.nist.gov/featured-stories/dna-mixtures-forensic-scienceexplainer (accessed May 2020)
- Fontana, F., Rapone, C., Bregola, G., Aversa, R., Meo, A. D., Signorini, G, et al. (2017). Isolation and genetic analysis of pure cells from forensic biological mixtures: The precision of a digital approach. *Forensic Science International: Genetics, 29,* 225-241. doi: 10.1016/j.fsigen.2017.04.023
- National Jewish Health, "Flow Cytometry Applications," nationaljewish.org: https://www.nationaljewish.org/research-science/corelabs/cytometry/flow-cytometry-applications (accessed May 2020)
- Dhaliwal, A. (2013). DNA Extraction and Purification. *Materials and Methods*, 3. doi: //dx.doi.org/10.13070/mm.en.3.191
- Cell Signaling Technology, Inc., "Overview of Flow Cytometry," cellsignal.com: https://www.cellsignal.com/contents/_/overview-of-flow-cytometry/flow-cytometry-overview (accessed May 2020)
- Mayeux, R. (2004). Biomarkers: Potential uses and limitations. *Neurotherapeutics*, 1(2), 182-188. doi: https://doi.org/10.1007/bf3206601
- Xu, Y., Xie, J., Chen, R., Cao, Y., Ping, Y., Xu, Q., et al. (2016). Fluorescence-and magneticactivated cell sorting strategies to separate spermatozoa involving plural contributors from biological mixtures for human identification. *Scientific Reports, 6*(1). doi: https://doi.org/10.1038/srep36515

- Dean, L. (2005). *Blood groups and red cell antigens*. Chapter 5: The ABO blood group. Bethesda, MD: NCBI
- Adamowicz, M.S., Stasulli, D.M., Sobestanovich, E.M., & Billie, T.W. (2014). Evaluation of Methods to Improve the Extraction and Recovery of DNA from Cotton Swabs for Forensic Analysis. *PloS ONE*, 9(12). doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0116351
- Viviano, M., Willame, A., Cohen, M., Benski, A.-C., Catarino, R., Wuillemin, C., et al. (2018). A comparison of cotton and flocked swabs for vaginal self-sample collection. *International Journal of Womens Health, Volume 10*, 229-236. doi: 10.2147/ijwh.s157897
- Bruijns. B. B., Tiggelaar, R. M., & Gardeniers, H. (2018). The Extraction and Recovery Efficiency of Pure DNA for Different Types of Swabs. *Journal of Forensic Sciences*, 63(5), 1492-1499. doi: 10.1111/1556-4029.13837
- Dadhania, A., Santiago, R., Caves, G., Nelson, M., Schanfiled, M., Podini, D. (2013). Cotton Swabs vs. 4N6FLOQSwabs: A Comparative Study for Optimal Recovery of DNA, International Society of Forensic Genetics Congress, Melbourne, Australia
- LUNA, Tison, C. (2020) "Dissolvable Forensic Swabs." Lunainc.com: https://lunainc.com/resource-library/dissolvable-forensic-swabs/
- Salvi, G., Rios, P.D.L., & Vendruscolo, M. (2015). Effective interactions between chaotropic agents and proteins. *Proteins: Structure, Function, and Bioinforatics, 61*(3), 492-499. doi: 10.1002/prot.20626
- 16. LUNA, (2017) "Luna's Dissolvable Swabs can Revolutionize Crime Scene Investigations." Lunainc.com: https://lunainc.com/forensic-swabs-perform-needed-criminal-investigations/
- Martin, N., Pirie, A., Ford, L., Callaghan, C., Mcturk, K., Lucy, D., & Scrimger, D. (2006). The use of phosphate buffered saline for the recovery of cells and spermatozoa from swabs. *Science and Justice*, 46(3), 179-184. doi: 10.1016/s1355-0306(06)71591-x

- 18. Stanciu, C., Kwon, Y., Ehrhardt, C. (2015). Forward-scatter and side-scatter dataset for epithelial cells from touch samples analyzed by flow cytometry. *Data in brief,* 6, 416-418
- Miltenyi Biotec, (2020) "AutoMACS Running Buffer MACS Separation Buffer."
 Miltenyibiotech.com: https://www.miltenyibiotec.com/US-en/products/automacs-running-buffer-macs-separation-buffer.html
- Bolognesi, C. *et al.* (2016). Digital Sorting of Pure Cell Populations Enables Unambiguous Genetic Analysis of Heterogeneous Formalin-Fixed Paraffin-Embedded Tumors by Next Generation Sequencing. *Sci. Rep.* 6, 20944; doi: 10.1038/srep20944
- Millpore Sigma, (2020). "Bovine Serum Albumins." Sigmaaldrich.com: https://www.sigmaaldrich.com/life-science/biochemicals/biochemicalproducts.html?TablePage=103994915
- Rockland Immunochemicals, Inc., "Bovine Serum Albumin." Rockland-inc.com: https://rockland-inc.com/bovine-serum-albumin.aspx
- Medicago, (2014) "EDTA Buffer pH 8.0." Medicago.se: http://www.medicago.se/edta-buffer-ph-80
- Encyclopedia Britannica, (1998). "Azide: Chemical Compound." Britannica.com: https://www.britannica.com/science/azide
- 25. STEMCELL Technologies, (2021). "3% Acetic Acid with Methylene Blue." Stemcell.com: https://www.stemcell.com/3-acetic-acid-with-methylene-blue.html
- 26. Avelar-Freitas, B., Almeida, V., Pinto, M., Mourão, F., Massensini., Martins-Filho, O., ... Brito-Melo, G. (2014). Trypan blue exclusion assay by flow cytometry. *Brazilian Journal of Medical and Biological Research*, 47(4), 307-315. doi: https://doi.org/10.1590/1414-431x20143437